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02/20/06

Raymond Andrews, R.A.

Assistant Director of Code Development

NYS Department of State

Codes Division

41 State Street

Albany, New York 12231

RE: Ordinance No. 2005-393

        Rochester, New York

Dear Mr. Andrews,

I submit this letter on behalf of The New York State Coalition of Property Owners & Businesses, Inc. (NYSC), asking the Department of State to deny the approval of Ordinance No. 2005-393 of the City of Rochester.

We believe that this ordinance is an illegal preemption of New York State’s authority in this area.  We also believe that the enactment process ignored required steps and that the ordinance deviates from EPA norms and protocols.  Furthermore, we contend that this ordinance represents an unfunded mandate that unreasonably burdens property owners.

NYSC represents the owners of over 5,000 rental units, owner-occupied properties and businesses in the Rochester, NY area.  We take the risk of elevated blood levels in children very seriously. We would support properly enacted lead legislation that protects the children, based on accurate science and with adequate resources to comply.

We believe that Rochester’s new ordinance is preempted by New York law.  Title X of New York's Public Health Law (PHL) governs the treatment of lead paint hazards in New York.  PHL §1370-a(2)(b) requires the Department of State to "coordinate lead poisoning prevention".  §1370-b(3) declares that the New York State Advisory Council on Lead Poisoning Prevention shall "develop a comprehensive plan to prevent lead poisoning".  Title X of the Public Health Law goes on to cover the subjects of abatement, enforcement, funding, screening, and regulations on manufacturing, among others.

The Court of Appeals has repeatedly stated, "Where the State has demonstrated its intent to preempt an entire field and preclude any further local regulation, local law regulating the same subject matter is considered inconsistent and will not be given effect.”  The legislature’s intent to preempt may be inferred from a declaration of policy or from a comprehensive or detailed scheme in a given area.”  Incorporated Village of Nyack v Daytop Village, Inc., 78 N.Y.2d 500 (1991); Cohen v Village of Saddle Rock, 100 N.Y.2d 395 (2003); People v De Jesus, 54 N.Y.2d 465 (1978).

 

The Legislature is certainly aware of the decisions of the Court of Appeals.  When the New York Legislature chooses wording such as “comprehensive statewide plan”, clearly it has evidenced the intent to preempt this field of legislation.  Since the New York State Legislature has explicitly carved out this area of law for itself, Rochester's City Council has no authority to attempt to legislate in the same field.

Page E-14 of Rochester’s Generic Environmental Impact Statement (GEIS) acknowledges that Rochester’s ordinance is inconsistent with Title X, but contends that Title X has not preempted the field precisely because the local legislation is inconsistent. This simply misconceives the principles of inconsistency and preemption.

The New York Legislature has considered the importance of protecting New York’s children from exposure to lead, but it has also determined that the magnitude of this task

requires that it be carried out at a statewide level.  Municipalities are constitutionally prohibited from giving gifts to individuals (see New York Constitution, Article VIII, section 1).  Only the State can provide the funding needed to carry out this immense task.  The Legislature preempted this field in recognition of these constitutional differences between State and local functions.

Rochester’s City Council also failed to observe the requirements of the State Environmental Quality Review Act (SEQRA, Environmental Conservation Law Article 8).  With several council members slated to leave office after December 2005, the Council pushed to enact the ordinance only days after the GEIS was received.  The ordinance was in fact written prior to the Council’s receipt of the GEIS.  The Council let their desire to allow departing members to vote on this ordinance override their duties under SEQRA.

Upon review, surely the Council would have heeded section 2.4 of the GEIS, which compares lead poisoning prevention ordinances enacted in several other municipalities, and notes that funding is critical to the success of this effort.  Page 2-15 of the GEIS notes that “These programs must also have a subsidy ratio of at least 3:1” in order to succeed.  City Council, without even reading the GEIS, enacted the first such ordinance in America with a subsidy ratio of zero.  We urge New York to reject this unprecedented ordinance and thereby require the Council to give the GEIS the full consideration that SEQRA requires.

This legislation also represents an improper locally-imposed unfunded mandate on property owners. As the Generic Environmental Impact Statement prepared in this matter shows many states have adopted lead legislation to reduce the incidence of elevated blood levels in children. Those states also included necessary funding and tax incentives.  This ordinance foists the entire cost of this effort onto housing providers without providing any economic assistance. The City of Rochester has not had a housing boom like the rest of the country. Housing values have continued to decline over the last decade.  The City of Rochester currently has over 3,000 vacant houses and the number continues to grow rapidly.  The Generic Environmental Impact Study showed that few resources exist for landlords who do not qualify for government programs, especially smaller landlords. The Monroe County Health Department currently offers no grants.  The City of Rochester Grant program is limited to 500 units over 5 years and is a lengthy (6-12 months) process, which won’t help with properties cited for lead hazards, which need immediate attention.  Future HUD grant funds are in doubt, as both the County and City have not received favorable grant designations.

Finally, the legislation is an extravagant and unnecessary, it places the imposition of liability and expense on property owners. This legislation is so some cumbersome, most housing providers will not be able to understand it or fully comply with it.  And it is a wildly expensive response to a problem already being successfully addressed.

In 1994, Monroe County had 5,680 children with elevated blood lead levels greater than or equal to 10 mcg/dl. In  2004, the number has been reduced to 900.  THE ELEVATED BLOOD LEAD LEVELS (greater than or equal to 10 mcg/dl) FOR 2005 ARE 675 (Both venous and finger stick tests – note venous tests = 355 and unconfirmed finger sticks =320).  A DECREASE OF 24.92% FROM 2004 AND 82% FROM 1994. The New York State Health Department, The Monroe County Department of Health and housing providers have worked together to reduce the number of elevated blood levels in children.  A graph (from the MCHD web page) supports this information.  The graph clearly shows the success we have obtained without legislation that will cause a high degree of property abandonment in our community. The New York City Dust Study also highlights the fact that “ lead dust levels inside can be due to ambient exterior lead dust in the environment.”

This legislation, if allowed to be implemented as is, may set precedence for other communities in New York State.  Does New York State have the funds to support this legislation and more importantly does New York State have the funds to aid in the rebuilding of communities after the ramifications of this legislation has destroyed the housing market state wide?

Thank you for listening to our concerns. Enclosed is Ordinance # 2005-393, Clarifications and needed Corrections, letter from Dr. Doniger, Director of Monroe County Department of Health addressed to City Council, Letter from Dr. Doniger addressed to me concerning the City has never looked better, the New York City Dust Study. Endorsements from various groups of citizens, letters from citizens opposing the lead legislation.

Sincerely,

Mary D’Alessandro, President

The New York State Coalition of Property Owners & Businesses, Inc.

TECHNICAL PROBLEMS AND REQUESTED MODIFICATIONS WITH ORDINANCE 2005-393
1.
DEFINITIONS:

Deteriorated Paint means any interior or exterior paint or other coating that, through a visual assessment, is found to be peeling, chipping, crazing, flaking, abrading, chalking or cracking, or any paint or coating located on an interior or exterior surface or fixture that is otherwise damaged or separated from the substrate, or a chewable surface that contains visual signs of chewing.

PROBLEM:

This definition is not following the EPA definition of Deteriorated paint therefore the word crazing and abrading needs to be clarified. This is a new and unscientific definition. Also, the statement, “ chewable surface that contains visual signs of chewing”  is not in the EPA definition and would be considered a damaged surface that is already covered in the definition.  It appears there is confusion; this is a protocol that is used for elevated blood level investigations and is not appropriate here.

REQUESTED CORRECTION/MODIFICATION:

To use the EPA definition found at 40 CFR 745:63

Deteriorated paint means any interior or exterior paint or other coating that is peeling, chipping, chalking or cracking, or any paint or coating located on an interior or exterior surface or fixture that is otherwise damaged or separated from the substrate.  

2.
90-53 PRESUMPTIONS AND OBLIGATIONS:

D. Residential buildings subject to the Certificate of Occupancy requirements of Section 90-16 shall be maintained “free of lead-based paint hazards”.
PROBLEM: 

This requirement is unrealistic and impossible.  The definition of “lead-based paint hazards” means any condition that causes exposure to lead-dust hazards, soil-lead hazards, or lead-based paint that is deteriorated or present in chewable surfaces, friction surfaces, or impact surfaces, and that would result in adverse human health effects.  Under 90-53 (A) all paint in rental housing is presumed to be lead-based. 

REQUESTED CORRECTION/MODIFICATION: 

Residential buildings subject to the Certificates of Occupancy requirements of Section 90-16 shall be maintained free of  “deteriorated paint violations” above the de minimus level. 

 Thus, any “rental” house that has any paint on any door or window is in violation of this “obligation.” It is well known that dust levels quickly re-accumulate due to tracked in ambient lead dust naturally present in the environment, which is beyond the control of the housing provider.

The intent of the ordinance is to protect young children from the effects of lead, yet Section 90-62B provides a blanket exception for owner-occupied single-family homes, even homes where children live.  Rented homes, in contrast, are subject to the ordinance even if no children reside there.  There is simply no rational basis reason to believe that children are protected by lead abatement work in homes where no children live, while the child's home remains exempt.

3. 90-55 INSPECTION FOR VIOLATIONS
All inspections, including, but not limited to, inspections performed as part of an application for a Certification of Occupancy pursuant to Section 90-16 of the City Code, a renewal of a Certificate of Occupancy, or based upon the filing of a complaint, shall include a visual assessment for deteriorated paint and bare soil violations.  With respect to units located in the high risk area identified by the Mayor or the Mayor’s designee, when the visual assessment identifies no deteriorated paint violation, wipe samples shall be obtained in accordance with the protocols established in 40 CFR 745.227(e)(8)(v)(B) to determine whether a dust–lead hazard violation exists.  When a dust-lead hazard is identified, a Clearance as described in 90-57 shall be required in order to remove such violation.   The high risk area to be identified by the Mayor or the Mayor’s designee shall, at a minimum, consist of those census block groups which cumulatively encompass an area in which no fewer that 90% of the units identified by the County Health Department for inspections in conjunction with its elevated blood-lead level inspections for the period of the preceding five years are located.  Where the filing of a complaint leads to an inspection, the inspection shall include the unit, which is the focus of the complaint and all common areas.

PROBLEM:

Taking dust samples when no deteriorated paint is present runs contrary to HUD federal guidelines. (This also is not a protocol for elevated blood lead inspections conducted the Monroe County Health Department nor is it a recommendation or requirement by the New York State Department of Health) It is understood that the dust wipe is a measure of cleanliness.  To require a clearance for a failed dust wipe is excessive and punitive.

REQUESTED CORRECTION/MODIFICATION:

All inspections, including, but not limited to, inspections performed as part of an application for a Certification of Occupancy pursuant to Section 90-16 of the City Code, a renewal of a Certificate of Occupancy, or based upon the filing of a complaint, shall include a visual assessment for deteriorated paint and bare soil violations PURSUANT TO 90-54B.

ENCLOSED IS A LETTER FROM DR. DONIGER DIRECTOR OF THE MONROE COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT ADVISING CITY COUNCIL COUNIL AGAINST DUST WIPES IF NO DETERIORATED PAINT IS IDENTIFIED.

4.
90-56 REMEDY FOR VIOLATIONS

Following a visual assessment, which results in the citation of a deteriorated paint violation, the violation may be removed only by one of the following methods:

(B.) Certification by a lead-based paint inspector or risk assessor that all lead-based paint in the property has been identified and abated, or identified and interim controls implemented, and clearance has been achieved in accordance with standards found at 40 CFR 745.227 (e), regardless of whether abatement has been achieved or interim controls implemented, and provided however that the property has been inspected pursuant to those standards since the deteriorated paint was last detected.

(C.) Certification by the Rochester Housing Authority or other state or federal supervisory agency which regulates an assisted housing program stating that the property is in compliance with the inspection and clearance requirements of the housing

Program or, with respect to federally assisted housing, the requirements of 24 CFR Part 35, provided, however, that with respect to the Federal Housing Choice Voucher program, the property has been inspected pursuant to those requirements since the deteriorated paint was last detected.

Where only exterior deteriorated paint violations, other than deteriorated paint violations on porches, and /or bare soil violations are citied, clearance may be established through a visual assessment by a City inspector after reduction measures have been implemented.

PROBLEM:

(B.) Certification by a lead-based paint inspector or risk assessor that all lead-based paint in the property has been identified and abated, or identified and interim controls implemented, and clearance has been achieved in accordance with standards found at 40 CFR 745.227 (e), regardless of whether abatement has been achieved or interim controls implemented, and provided however that the property has been inspected pursuant to those standards since the deteriorated paint was last detected.

This statement means that a full surface-by-surface lead based paint inspection with an XRF lead detector must be conducted by an EPA certified Risk Assessor or Lead Inspector. EPA regulations for clearing deteriorated paint state: 40 CFR 745.227(e) 8 (i) “Following an abatement, A visual inspection shall be performed to determine if deteriorated painted surfaces and\or visible amounts of dust, debris or residue are still present.” A full lead based paint inspection after the deteriorated paint has been controlled is unnecessary according to EPA.

It is cumbersome and un-necessary to perform a full Risk- assessment to identify lead-based paint each time a unit is up for renewal of a C of O or a citation by a City inspector because of a complaint. Please note that the risk- assessment that the City requires is asking only for the identification of lead based paint and not lead-based paint hazards. Walls do not move.  If the surface was lead-based in November of 2005, it will be lead based in January of 2006. The City of Rochester already assumes all paint to be lead-based.  Continually identifying that a surface is lead-based is a waste of money that is needed to remedy the hazards to protect children.  

REQUESTED CORRECTION/MODIFICATION:

A visual inspection shall be performed to determine if deteriorated painted surfaces and\or visible amounts of dust, debris or residue are still present.” A full lead based paint inspection after the deteriorated paint has been controlled is unnecessary according to EPA.

PROBLEM

City Administrators admit that 90-56 as written is not the intent.  If it is not the intent, it needs to be changed. State Laws should not be passed without every word being scrutinized by attorneys for clarification that statements made reflect the true intent.

90-56 (B.) It has been stated by Bill Sullivan, chief of staff to city Council “the intent of council was “ that a city inspector or other agent would cite the property with a “lead-based paint violation. The owner would remedy the violation and a clearance would be needed to remove the violation.” Also, upon attending a meeting with the Park Avenue Housing Providers where Molly Clifford and Gary Kirkmire ( City administration) attended it was their understanding the code was to be implemented as Bill Sullivan stated was the intent. The language in Paragraph 90-56 (B) is due to a lack of understanding the language does not reflect their intent. 90-56 (B) should state “following a visual assessment by the City of Rochester which results in the citation of a “deteriorated paint violation”, the housing provider shall remedy the violation and achieve clearance using a lead-based paint inspector or risk assessor in accordance with standards found at 

40 CFR 745.227(e) 8 (i) “Following an abatement, A visual inspection shall be performed to determine if deteriorated painted surfaces and\or visible amounts of dust, debris or residue are still present.” A full lead based paint inspection after the deteriorated paint has been controlled is unnecessary.

REQUESTED CORRECTION/MODIFICATION:

90-56 (B) should state “following a visual assessment by the City of Rochester which results in the citation of a “deteriorated paint violation”, the housing provider shall remedy the violation and achieve clearance using a lead-based paint inspector or risk assessor in accordance with standards found at 40 CFR 745.227(e) 8 (i) “Following an abatement, A visual inspection shall be performed to determine if deteriorated painted surfaces and\or visible amounts of dust, debris or residue are still present.” A full lead based paint inspection after the deteriorated paint has been controlled is unnecessary.

5.
90-56 (C) CERTIFICATION 

Certification by the Rochester Housing Authority or other state or federal supervising agency which regulates an assisted housing program stating that the property is in compliance with the inspection and clearance requirements of the housing program or, with respect to federally assisted housing, the requirements of 24 CFR Part 35, provided, however, that with respect to the Federal Housing Choice Voucher program, the property has been inspected pursuant to those requirements since the deteriorated paint was last detected.

PROBLEM: 

Sec. 90-56 (C) requires a clearance exam in Section 8 housing but Sec. 90-56 (B) requires a full risk assessment in non-section 8 housing.  This is impracticable not to mention blatant discrimination against housing providers who rent to non-section 8 recipients.

REQUESTED CORRECTION/MODIFICATION:

All housing providers including Sec. 8 should be held to the same standard of the Lead Legislation. .  This is impracticable not to mention blatant discrimination against housing providers who rent to non-section 8 recipients.

PROBLEM:

Where only exterior deteriorated paint violations, other than deteriorated paint violations on porches, and /or bare soil violations are citied, clearance may be established through a visual assessment by a City inspector after reduction measures have been implemented

REQUESTED CORRECTION/MODIFICATION:

Bare soil clearance should certainly be able to be cleared by a city inspector.  We are sure a city inspector can clearly see bark chips or planted grass.

6.
90-57 (B) (3) DUST SAMPLES:

Dust samples shall be wipe samples and shall be taken on floors, including porches, and where practicable, interior windowsills and window troughs.  Dust samples shall be collected and analyzed in accordance with 40 CFR 745.227(f) and (g).

PROBLEM:

There are no EPA standards for open porch floors.  Also, the standard recommended was for interior floors and is inappropriate for exterior porches. 

CITY COUNCIL WAS GIVEN INCORRECT INFORMATION BY THE CPLP AND ART WELLS (RISK ASSESSOR). THE STANDARD THAT WAS RECOMMENDED BY THEM IS FOR AN INTERIOR FLOOR AND WINDOW THROUGHS, THIS IS NOT APPROPRIATE FOR AN OPEN PORCH FLOOR. DUE TO INACCURATE INFORMATION FOR PORCH DUST ATANDARD ( WHICH THE CPLP MISLAED THE CITY AND PROPERTY OWNERS ON ) THIS DUST STANDARD FOR OPEN PORCHES REMAINS TO BE A VERY PROBLEMATIC ISSUE.  

REQUESTED CORRECTION/MODIFICATION:

ALTHOUGH ALL THREE PROPOSED CODES HAD PORCH STANDARDS, NOW THAT THE CITY IS AWARE THERE IS NO STANDARD THIS SHOULD BE REMOVED. THE HEALTH DEAPRTMENT AND NYSC ADVISED THE CITY COUNCIL OF THIS ERROR, YET IT REMAINS. 

7. 90-57 CLEARANCE STANDARDS:

Where a deteriorated paint violation has been cited, the dust-lead standards in 40 CFR 745.65(b) shall be met before a Certificate of occupancy may be issued or a violation removed.  With respect to porches, the standard required for clearance shall be 400 ug/sq.ft, provided however, that if a porch is found to contain more than 40 ug/sq.ft, the inspector or assessor shall advise the occupants of the premises that the porch constitutes a potential lead-based paint hazard that requires continued caution and that the occupants should read and follow closely the information in the lead hazard information pamphlet regarding lead safe maintenance practices such as frequent washing, and that pamphlet shall be provided to the occupants.

PROBLEM:

Requiring dust wipes on an open porch floor is not an EPA protocol- that is why there is no dust standard for open porch floors..  Dave Topping, Environmental Scientist at EPA states in his porch dust 2/14/2006 email to the Monroe County Health Department “Rochester requirements are troubling on a couple of counts. First, there seems to be no basis for the porch clearance standard of 400 ug/ft2.  Maybe a standard like the Federal EPA clearance requirement for exteriors would be sufficient (e.g., "cleaned of visible dust and debris” see 40 CFR 745.227(e)(8)(v)(C), which is likely the basis for Rochester's 90-56 (D))” “Likewise, there is no apparent health basis for the "potential hazard" standard of 40 ug/ft2. A further complication is that, a lead loading measurement is specified. Since the dust-lead loading on an exterior porch is dependent upon both the concentration of lead in the dirt on the porch and on the amount of dirt that is present at a given time, one would expect the lead loading levels on the porch to vary widely over even short periods of time depending upon such things as how recently the surface was cleaned, how much dirt the wind blows onto the surface, rain events, etc.  So, a loading standard to evaluate hazard on an exterior porch doesn't seem to be particularly useful”.
REQUESTED CORRECTION/MODIFICATION:

SEE DAVID TOPPING E-MAIL TO COUNTY OF MONROE HEALTH DEPARTMENT UNDERLINED ABOVE.

The only way to “clear” an exterior open porch deck is a visual assessment.  All exterior surfaces are likely to exceed an interior floor standard and the level of 400. If paint is intact we can only assume this contamination came from the City streets or is in the atmosphere (See New York City Dust Study). 

On December 20th, 2005, Amendments were presented to City Council at the City Council Meeting.  The amendments were not available for the city residents or investors to see or comment on before the adoption of said amendments.  It is embarrassing to hear friends and business associates comment on the incompetence of our council. The code has errors; items lack clarification, and there is a gross misunderstanding of state and federal standards. This legislation was truly based on the politics of the activists.

I, and many others sat on committees within the Coalition to Prevent Lead Poisoning.  We were verbally abused, one professional was threatened to be beaten up, and we were not listened to.  Many important agencies left the table because of heavy-handed tactics.  The CPLP discredited County and City Programs and the Federal section 8 Program. Katrina Korfmacher falsely discredited the results of legitimate scientific studies.  She discredited the results of the Section 8 program, which in fact has had no documented children poisoned in their units. CPLP continually gave inaccurate information to Rochester’s City Council Administration and the community via the media, even after being corrected by Dr. Doniger, the Director of the Monroe County Health Department.

It should also be noted that The Department of Health and the City of Rochester administration did not support this ordinance.
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